SARJA - SER. All OSA - TOM. 283 BIOLOGICA - GEOGRAPHICA - GEOLOGICA

THE GENETICS OF BEHAVIOUR AND OTHER ADAPTIVE TRAITS IN NINE-SPINED STICKLEBACKS (*PUNGITIUS PUNGITIUS*)

by

Veronika Laine

TURUN YLIOPISTO UNIVERSITY OF TURKU Turku 2013 From the Laboratory of Genetics, Department of Biology University of Turku Turku Finland

Supervised by:

Academy Professor Craig R. Primmer University of Turku Finland

Assistant Professor Gábor Herczeg University of Helsinki Finland Eötvös Loránd University Hungary

Reviewed by

Dosentti Helmi Kuittinen University of Oulu Finland

Doctor Alison Bell University of Illinois USA

Examined by

Senior Scientist Bengt Hansson Lund University Sweden

Cover image by Mirella Kanerva

The originality of this dissertation has been checked in accordance with the University of Turku quality assurance system using the Turnitin OriginalityCheck service.

ISBN 978-951-29-5524-4 (PRINT) ISBN978-951-29-5525-1 (PDF) ISSN 0082-6979 Painosalama Oy – Turku, Finland 2013

Alive without breath, As cold as death; Never thirsty, ever drinking, All in mail never clinking. — J.R.R. Tolkien, The Hobbit

ABSTRACT

One of the main goals in current evolutionary biology research is to identify genes behind adaptive phenotypic variations. The advances in genomic technologies have made it possible to identify genetic loci behind these variations, also concerning non-model species. This thesis investigates the genetics of the behaviour and other adaptive traits of the nine-spined stickleback (*Pungitius pungitius*) through the application of different genetic approaches. Fennoscandian nine-spined stickleback populations express large phenotypical differences especially in behaviour, life –history traits and morphology. However the underlying genetic bases for these phenotypical differences have not been studied in detail. The results of the project will lay the foundation for further genetics studies and provide valuable information for our understanding of the genetics of the adaptive divergence of the nine-spined stickleback.

A candidate gene approach was used to develop microsatellite markers situating close to candidate genes for behaviour in the nine-spined stickleback. Altogether 13 markers were developed and these markers were used in the subsequent studies with the anonymous random markers and physiologically important gene markers which are already currently available for nine-spined sticklebacks.

It was shown that heterozygosity correlated with behaviour in one of the marine ninespined stickleback populations but with contrasting effects: correlations with behaviour were negative when using physiological gene markers and positive with random markers. No correlation was found between behavioural markers and behaviour. From the physiological gene markers, a strong correlation was found between osmoregulationrelated gene markers and behaviour. These results indicate that both local (physiological) and general (random) effects are important in the shaping of behaviour and that heterozygosity– behaviour correlations are population dependent.

In this thesis a second linkage map for nine-spined sticklebacks was constructed. Compared to the earlier nine-spined stickleback linkage map, genomic rearrangements were observed between autosomal (LG7) and sex-determing (LG12) linkage groups. This newly constructed map was used in QTL mapping studies in order to locate genomic regions associated with pelvic structures, behaviour and body size/growth. One major QTL was found for pelvic structures and *Pitx1* gene was related to these traits as was predicted from three-spined stickleback studies, but this was in contrast to earlier nine-spined stickleback study. The QTL studies also revealed that behaviour and body size/growth were genetically more complex by having more QTL than pelvic traits. However, in many cases, pelvic structure, body size/growth and behaviour were linked to similar map locations indicating possible pleiotropic effects of genes locating in these QTL regions. Many of the gene related markers resided in the QTL area. In the future, studying these possible candidate genes in depth might reveal the underlying mechanism behind the measured traits.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

L	IST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	6
1.	INTRODUCTION	7
	1.1 Adaptive phenotypic variation	7
	1.2 Genetics of behaviour	7
	1.3 Behaviour and fitness	9
	1.4 Factors affecting behavioural studies	10
	1.5 Model vs. wild species	11
2.	AIMS OF THE THESIS	12
	2.1 The nine-spined stickleback as a model species	12
3.	MATERIALS AND METHODS	16
	3.1 Methodological background	16
	3.1.1 Candidate genes and heterozygosity-fitness/behaviour correlations.	16
	3.1.2 Linkage mapping and QTL studies	17
	3.2 Nine-spined stickleback samples	18
	3.2.1 Studies I-II: family setting	18
	3.2.2 Studies III-V: F_2 -cross	19
	3.3 Behavioural trials and PCA	20
	3.3.1 Study II: normal feeding, risky feeding, boldness and aggression	20
	3.3.2 Studies III-V: feeding activity, risk-taking and exploration	21
	3.3.3 Principal component analyses	21
	3.4 Molecular methods	22
	3.6 Data analyses	22
	3.6.1 Study II	23
	3.6.2 Studies III-V	23
1	MAIN DESILITS AND DISCUSSION	25
4.	4.1 Candidate genes and heterozygosity-behaviour correlations (I & II)	<u>2</u> 3 25
	4.1 Canadada genes and netrologygosity-benaviour correlations (i te ii)	23
	4.2.1 Linkage map and OTL for pelvic reduction (III)	27
	4.2.2 OTL for behaviour (IV)	
	4.2.3 Body size and growth QTL (V)	31
5	IMPLICATIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	34
	5.1 Variation in behaviour-fitness correlations	
	5.2 QTL mapping of traits with high ecological and evolutionary relevance	34
A	CKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
RI	EFERENCES	30
	DICINAL DUDI ICATIONS	
U		

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following publications and manuscripts which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:

- I Veronika N. Laine, Craig R. Primmer, Gábor Herczeg, Juha Merilä, Takahito Shikano (2012) Isolation and characterization of 13 new nine-spined stickleback, *Pungitius pungitius*, microsatellites located nearby candidate genes for behavioural variation. *Annales Zoologici Fennici* 49:123–128.
- II Veronika N. Laine, Gábor Herczeg, Takahito Shikano, Craig R. Primmer (2012) Heterozygosity-behaviour correlations in nine-spined stickleback (*Pungitius pungitius*) populations: contrasting effects at random and functional loci. *Molecular Ecology* 21:4872–4884.
- III Takahito Shikano, Veronika N. Laine, Gábor Herczeg, Johanna Vilkki, Juha Merilä (2013) Genetic architecture of parallel pelvic reduction in ninespine sticklebacks. *Genes, Genomes, Genetics* DOI: 10.1534/g3.113.007237.
- IV Veronika N. Laine, Gábor Herczeg, Takahito Shikano, Johanna Vilkki, Juha Merilä: QTL analysis of behavior in nine-spined sticklebacks (*Pungitius pungitius*). Submitted manuscript.
- V Veronika N. Laine, Takahito Shikano, Gábor Herczeg, Johanna Vilkki, Juha Merilä: Quantitative trait loci for growth and body size in the nine-spined stickleback *Pungitius pungitius* L. *Accepted in Molecular Ecology*.

Articles I, II and V are reprinted with permission from Finnish Zoological and Botanical Publishing Board and Wiley, respectively.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Adaptive phenotypic variation

Environmental variation causes organisms to adapt differently (Endler 1977). This process leads to discernible phenotypic variation between same species populations and contemporary evolutionary research aims at identifying those differences and understanding its genetic background (Orr 2005; Stapley et al. 2010). Aiding to this, the rapid advances in genomic technologies have made it possible to identify genetic loci facilitating these variations beyond the typical model organisms (Stapley et al. 2010). In addition to genetic factors, biotic factors derived from conspecifics or other species, such as competition and predation, are known to affect population-level variation e.g. in behaviour (Herczeg and Välimäki 2011) and a genetic basis eluding to this phenomenon has been suggested (e.g. Magurran 1990; Shaw et al. 2007; Brown et al. 2007). Furthermore variation in predation pressure can also induce differences in morphological defence systems and life history traits (Roff 1992; Tollrian and Harwell 1999). Hence, it is of utmost importance to investigate many aspects of phenotypically adaptive traits when aiming for the comprehension of the underlying genetic mechanisms.

1.2 Genetics of behaviour

Disentangling the underlying biological mechanisms in different behaviours can help us understand the developmental history, genetic composition, characteristics of the nervous system, physiological state, environmental factors and biochemical reactions an individual has and experiences during its lifetime (Figure 1). (Anholt and Mackay 2009; Krebs and Davies 1997).



Figure 1. A representation of how behaviour is connected to different aspects of biology (from Anholt & Mackay 2009)

Experimental behavioural studies were first conducted by experimental psychologists Pavlov, Thorndike and Skinner and also by the early behavioural ethologists Lorenz, von Frisch and Tinbergen, all together building the foundations of behavioural research (Anholt and Mackay 2009). The advances in technology and methodological approach have in modern times led to a more comprehensive understanding of behaviour; incorporating insights from various fields of research such as neurobiology, physiology and genetics. The underlying genetic basis provides the foundation for the nervous system to express behaviours between organisms and their social and physical environments. The rapid speed at which genetics developed over the last decades has in particular helped to gain a more profound knowledge of the underlying mechanisms by means of utilizing quantitative genetics.

Genes that affect behaviour can have two kinds of effects. First, some genes are influencing the manifestation of the behaviour i.e. the gene is affecting a trait in which there is little or no variation in the population and the trait is not environmentally determined. This can be studied by mutagenesis approaches as it has been done for example with mice (Belknap et al. 2001). Second, a particular set of genes are contributing to the behavioural variation. With quantitative trait loci (QTL) mapping approach it is possible to identify and estimate the contributions of these genes to the observed phenotypic variance (Boake et al. 2002). The effects can be monitored by creating mutations and this is possible especially in the model organisms. However, it is often only possible to rely on the mutations that have occurred naturally and are manifesting in populations where variations of behaviours are occurring. One gene can be responsible for many distinct and unrelated phenotypic effects in the phenomenon called pleiotropy (Stearns 2010). Generally there are no genes solely for behaviour and genes termed as "behavioural genes" are not directly controlling behaviour but these genes have instead been influencing the development and function of behaviour by affecting the development of the nervous system related to adult behaviour (Sokolowski 2001). In addition, these genes can affect both behaviour and physiology. Pleiotropic effects have for example been studied in the fruitfly (Drosophila melanogaster) e.g. examining genes affecting both behaviour and development (reviewed by Sokolowski 2001 and Anholt and Mackay 2004) and in honeybees (Apis mellifera) in the context of reproduction and social behaviour (reviewed by Page et al. 2012). Furthermore a rather surprising example of pleiotropic effects between physiology and behaviour comes from the melanocortin system studies. It has been shown that there is a widespread relationship between melanin-based coloration and other phenotypic traits in vertebrates, e.g. darker wild vertebrates are more aggressive, sexually active and resistant to stress than lighter individuals (reviewed by Ducrest et al. 2008). Thus genetic studies should not only concentrate on the most popular genes studied in behavioural genetics but widen the search to other systems as well.

1.3 Behaviour and fitness

Behavioural traits are known to have important fitness consequences. For example, behavioural type can affect survival, breeding success and offspring quality, among other parameters (Réale et al. 2007). As mentioned, genes can affect the trait's manifestation or the variation but, in addition to measuring these effects, the level of genetic variability can also be of importance. In heterozygosity-fitness correlations the thought is that in some circumstances, high heterozygosity is expected to convey a selective advantage to an individual but there are also cases where high heterozygosity resulted in lower fitness (discussed in: Coltman and Slate 2003; Chapman et al. 2009; Szulkin and David 2011), as have cases of balanced polymorphism (Aeschlimann et al. 2003; Reusch et al. 2001). As an example, in salmonids, individual heterozygosity has been shown to be positively correlated with aggression, competitive performance, dominance rank and predator avoidance (Blanchet et al. 2009; Tiira et al. 2006; Tiira et al. 2003; Vilhunen et al. 2008). However, the fitness consequences of behavioural types can be context-dependent. Aggression can be advantageous in competitive situations, when there is a need to assert dominance, challenge a higher-ranking individual or defend a claim for scarce resources, such as territories. In contrast, high aggressiveness and boldness, for example in predator avoidance situations, can be costly (Anholt and Mackay 2012).

1.4 Factors affecting behavioural studies

Recent evolutionary behavioural ecology is going through a paradigm change regarding the relevance of individual differences in behaviour. In short, individual behavioural differences assessed in the same context and situation are no more seen as measurement errors or as random noise, but rather as a highly relevant biological phenomenon (e.g. Dingemanse et al. 2010). Such behavioural consistency can be studied at several levels (Garamszegi and Herczeg 2012; Herczeg and Garamszegi 2012), one being the consistent individual differences in multiple behaviours, often called behavioural syndromes, where e.g. the more aggressive individuals are also often bolder (Garamszegi and Herczeg 2012; Gosling 2001; Sih et al. 2004b; Sih et al. 2004a). Hence, when several functionally independent behaviours are considered (e.g. risk-taking, aggression and activity), the common component (i.e. behavioural type; Bell 2007) of the behaviours should also be considered besides the single behaviours. Behavioural syndrome studies also suggest that there may be important ecological and evolutionary consequences of such behaviour in the form of e.g. trade-offs between activity and risk of getting eaten by the predator (Réale et al. 2007; Sih et al. 2004a).

In addition to genetic factors, environmental effects have a substantial contribution to phenotypic variation. Humidity, temperature, diet, light/dark cycle in cooperation with age and sex of the individual and also its social environment can affect how an individual behaves in these different situations (Krebs and Davies 1997). Also environmental factors such as environmental toxicants can affect the physiology of an individual and thus, indirectly, the expressed behaviour. For example, exposure to synthetic estrogen was shown to reduce aggressive behaviour in male three-spined sticklebacks (Gasterosteus aculeatus), a territorial and rather aggressive fish (Bell 2001). Since courtship and aggression are both important determinants of the lifetime reproductive success of male fish, sublethal effects on the behaviour of individual animals may influence the dynamics of fish populations in aquatic environments where steroidogenic compounds occur. However the effect of toxicants on the behaviour of the fish could also vary due to their differences in genotype. E.g. in the zebrafish (Danio rerio) study by Colman et al. (2009), the authors detected differences in the response to the growing dose of synthetic estrogen. Hence, it is essential to identify, control or exclude different aspects that can affect the measured behaviour to reveal true genetic differences.

Assessing or controlling the genetic background of the tested individuals is also important to eliminate or reduce genetically induced variation in the expression of behaviours (Anholt and Mackay 2009). In laboratory studies it is possible to control the environmental conditions and also the genetic background due to controlled breeding. However, breeding in laboratory is available only to a limited number of species. By using naturally occurring genetically diverged populations, it is possible to identify DNA changes affecting phenotypic differences also in other species. For example, genetically diverged populations have previously been successfully used in threespined sticklebacks to identify genes causing morphological changes between divergent populations (Colosimo et al. 2004; Shapiro et al. 2004). Another suitable way to study genetics of behaviour is to compare domesticated and wild animals, since domestication alters both the behaviour and the genetics of the individual. There are good examples especially from the fish studies (e.g. Lucas et al. 2004; Wright et al. 2006a,b).

In addition to behavioural trials done in laboratory, trials can be conducted in the field under ecologically relevant conditions to understand the significance of patterns. Furthermore, some behaviours are not manifesting in laboratory conditions. Thus, behavioural studies combining both laboratory and field studies might help to make the implications broader and more widely applicable (Adriaenssens and Johnsson 2010).

1.5 Model vs. wild species

In this thesis I regard wild species as which the individuals used in research are descended from recently sampled individuals of a non-domesticated species. In contrast a model species has been reared in the laboratory for many generations. Most behavioural genetic studies have been conducted on model organisms such as mice, Drosophila and more recently also domesticated animals have been included (Fitzpatrick et al. 2005; Inoue-Murayama 2009). New models have also been emerging especially for behavioural studies, such as the honeybee, providing valuable insights into social behaviour (Fitzpatrick et al. 2005). Despite the potential ecological and evolutionary significance in wild populations and the fact that more variation in behaviour is seen in the natural setting, the underlying genetic basis of behaviours has rarely been studied in free-living populations. However, there are various tools available currently to change the situation. For instance, 'candidate gene approach' can easily be used in the wild populations (see Materials and methods) (Fidler et al. 2007; Fitzpatrick et al. 2005). Furthermore, the most recent developments in genomic techniques enable new 'wholegenome' approaches to be undertaken in almost any species, thus removing one of the main limitations of conducting such studies in non-model organisms, i.e. the lack of genome sequence information.

2. AIMS OF THE THESIS

The aim of my PhD was to investigate the genetics of nine-spined stickleback (*Pungitius*) behaviour and other adaptive traits through the application of different genetic approaches (Figure 2). The overarching goal is to find genetic factors that are affecting the behaviour, life –history traits and morphology of the nine-spined stickleback as the underlying genetic bases for these phenotypical differences in Fennoscandian nine-spined stickleback populations have not been studied in detail. This study is divided into two sections. First I focused on the generation of candidate gene markers for nine-spined stickleback behaviour and on utilizing them and other available markers in a heterozygosity-behaviour correlation study (chapters I- II). In the second phase I applied linkage and quantitative trait loci mapping to obtain a deeper understanding of the association of these markers with behaviour and morphology (chapters III-V). The results of the project will lay the foundation for further behaviour genetics studies and provide valuable information for our understanding of the genetics of nine-spined stickleback adaptive divergence.

2.1 The nine-spined stickleback as a model species

Fish are well suited for complex behavioural studies as they share a diverse range of behavioural types and adaptations. In addition, vertebrates such as fish may prove useful in genotype–behaviour phenotype association studies, as 'cultural' determinants of behaviour are not expected to be as strong as among humans and it is possible to conduct controlled experiments and behavioural trials. The nine-spined sticklebacks live in a wide range of habitats and local differences in aggressiveness and boldness have been observed. As an example, individuals from small ponds (lacking piscine predators) are bolder and more aggressive than individuals originating from marine environments (Herczeg et al. 2009a). More precisely, behavioural plasticity has been tested in these populations by using both chemical cues of predators and food manipulation (Herczeg and Välimäki 2011). The results showed that evolutionary history, ontogenetic experience and also the sex of the individuals affected the behaviour in laboratory reared pond and marine nine-spined sticklebacks. Furthermore, there also exists evidence for habitat-dependent expression of adaptive phenotypic plasticity as pond fish were more risk-taking than marine fish, but only when they had developed under food shortage.

In addition to behavioural differences, there are also genetic and morphological differences between different nine-spined stickleback populations in Fennoscandia (Herczeg et al. 2010; Shikano et al. 2010c). There is a large variance in genetic variability when comparing pond, lake and marine populations. Because of their small population



Figure 2. Thesis outline

size and the unpredictable nature of the habitat they live in, the pond populations are more susceptible to inbreeding than marine and lake populations (Shikano et al. 2010c). Furthermore, it has been observed that pond-living fish grow larger and in this case both predation and competition seem to have significant impact on the size differences between different habitat types (Herczeg et al. 2009b; Välimäki and Herczeg 2012). Larger sizes in ponds are the result of divergent growth strategies: while marine fish grow to a small size quickly, pond fish reach giant sizes slowly, even at the cost of delayed maturation (Aikio et al. 2013; Herczeg et al. 2012). To protect themselves from predators, nine-spined sticklebacks have body armour and 8-12 dorsal spines and two pelvic spines (Bănărescu and Paepke 2001). Recent studies have further described differences in armour between pond and marine populations. In ponds, body armour is reduced and the pelvic spine complex can be missing (Herczeg et al. 2010; Mobley et al. 2011) but, surprisingly, there is no evidence of predator-induced expression of plasticity in body armour in these populations (Välimäki et al. 2012). Contrary to marine fish, pond fish are negatively affected by group living. When reared in groups, pond fish

have smaller body size and brains compared to individual rearing, an observation not prevalent in marine fish (Gonda et al. 2009; Herczeg et al. 2009c).

The behavioural differences in nine-spined stickleback populations can be the result of physiological characteristics and the state of the fish in addition to genetic background and adaptation to environmental conditions. For example, weak locomotor ability, sleep deprivation and starvation can all affect the activity and aggression levels of animals (Biro and Stamps 2010; Damsgard and Dill 1998). Because many behaviours such as aggressiveness and exploration are considered to be energetically costly, there should be a correlation between behaviour and metabolic rate and this has been shown in deer mice (*Peromyscus maniculatus*) where a genetic correlation between resting metabolic rate and exploratory behaviour has been found (Careau et al. 2011). In addition to exploratory behaviour, metabolic rate correlates also with an individual's social status (Cutts et al. 2001; Cutts et al. 1999; Cutts et al. 1998; Metcalfe et al. 1995; Yamamoto et al. 1998) and it has been hypothesized that higher metabolic rate ensures rapid growth in salmonids (Metcalfe et al. 1995). In addition, behaviour itself can affect the growth of the individual. Higher growth rate has been found in low-explorative type brown trout (Salmo trutta) compared to bolder conspecifics in the wild (Adriaenssens and Johnsson 2010). Intriguingly, this finding is in contrast to the observation that bolder individuals in domestication/laboratory situations grow faster, and more research is warranted to shed light on these contrasting results (Biro and Stamps 2010; Lahti et al. 2002).

When there are olfactory cues present from perch, nine-spined sticklebacks become less aggressive and risk-taking, and their growth is also decreased (Herczeg and Välimäki 2011; Välimäki and Herczeg 2012). Although it seems that predation is not affecting the body armour of nine-spined sticklebacks, in many other studies predation is known to affect the morphological defence (Hill and Hill 2002; Tollrian 1995; Young et al. 2003). In addition, it has been suggested that predation-induced morphological defences, such as body armour and spines, are actually indirect effects of behavioural changes rather than a direct adaptive response (Johansson and Andersson 2009). This seems to indicate that predators often decrease the activity of the prey (Lima and Dill 1990), which is adaptive by decreasing the probability of the prey being killed (Werner and Anholt 1993), but also enables the prey to use the saved energy for example to growth (Donovan and Gleeson 2006; Tolley and Torres 2002) or development of defensive structures like spines. An excellent example of predator induced morphological change is the predatorprey relationship between the northern pike (Esox lucius) and the crucian carp (Carassius *carassius*). In the presence of pike, carps develop deeper bodies (Andersson et al. 2006; Vøllestad et al. 2004); an observation leading to two hypotheses: one stating that this is an adaptive response because pikes prefer shallow-bodied carps (Nilsson et al. 1995) or alternatively this is due to an indirect effect where energy saved from reduced activity is

15

allocated to body growth (Holopainen et al. 1997; Vøllestad et al. 2004; Andersson et al. 2006; Johansson and Andersson 2009; although see Relyea 2002; Laurila et al. 2008). Other fish species have shown similar response to predator cues (Eklöv and Jonsson 2007). However, it should be noted that in addition to saved energy allocated to growth, available food for prey can affect the body shape (Andersson et al. 2006; Hjelm et al. 2001) and also when there are predators around there are less competitors and more food available for prey to grow larger (Holopainen et al. 1997; Johansson and Andersson 2009).

Nine-spined sticklebacks are a suitable model species for evolutionary and ecological genomics and especially for behavioural studies, as there is the possibility to conduct controlled experiments and the fish are easily reared in a laboratory (Merilä 2013). Furthermore, the availability of the genome sequence of a related species, the threespined stickleback, has enabled us to develop a suite of genomic markers in nine-spined sticklebacks such as of gene-linked microsatellites (Shikano et al. 2010; Laine et al. 2012 (I)) and restriction site-associated DNA (RAD) loci (Bruneaux et al. 2013). In addition, both stickleback species are excellent model species for convergent evolution studies where similar phenotypical adaptations have been potentially achieved through different genetic pathways. As outlined above, nine-spined sticklebacks have large morphological and as well as behavioural differences between habitat types. In convergent evolution studies more emphasis has been put on the evolution and genetic basis of morphological differences (Colosimo et al. 2005; Herczeg et al. 2010; Kaeuffer et al. 2012; Peichel et al. 2001; Shapiro et al. 2009; Shapiro et al. 2004) but behavioural aspects, especially risk-taking and exploration related traits, have been getting more and more attention and it is already known that stickleback risk-taking behaviour is influenced by genetic and environmental factors (Bell 2009; Merilä 2013). However, the exact genes affecting the behaviour are not as yet known. Combining genomic tools and data from the behavioural studies can uncover the genetic basis of stickleback behaviour.

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Methodological background

3.1.1 Candidate genes and heterozygosity-fitness/behaviour correlations

In behavioural genetics, a lot of attention has been given to the serotonergic and dopaminergic systems, because these two hormonal systems play many roles in an organism's physiology and behaviour (Berger et al. 2009; Noblett and Coccaro 2005). Recent studies have demonstrated how the knowledge of genes that have been shown to be associated with behavioural traits in "model" organisms (including humans) can be utilized for studying the genetic basis of behavioural variation in wild animal populations through the use of a candidate gene approach (Figure 2) (Fidler et al. 2007; Fitzpatrick et al. 2005). Recently, a zebrafish model was used successfully to identify many candidate genes and pathways to regulating aggression in fish, combining gene expression profiling, behavioural analyses and pharmacological manipulations (Filby et al. 2010).

The candidate gene approach can be used to design molecular markers, for example to use sequence polymorphism information in categorising wild individuals to behavioural groups without measuring the actual behaviour (Fitzpatrick et al. 2005). Earlier studies have also demonstrated that molecular markers located within or nearby target candidate genes can be a useful resource for the identification of genes associated with adaptive phenotypic divergence, especially when there are no other genomic resources available (Shikano et al. 2010a; Tonteri et al. 2010). In addition, markers closely linked to functionally important genes are useful in construction of comparative genetic maps, in which they can be used as comparative anchor-tagged sequence loci (Lyons et al. 1997).

As mentioned in the introduction, genetic diversity can be an important factor affecting behaviour as shown in the studies on salmonids (Blanchet et al. 2009; Tiira et al. 2006; Tiira et al. 2003; Vilhunen et al. 2008). The idea behind heterozygosity-fitness/behaviour correlations studies is the testing of the direct vs. local vs. general effect hypotheses (Hansson and Westerberg 2008; Hansson and Westerberg 2002; Szulkin et al. 2010). The direct effect hypothesis predicts that heterozygote advantage arises because of overdominance at loci which have a direct effect on phenotypes. The predictions of the local effect hypothesis are similar to those of the direct effect hypothesis, except for that the markers are assumed to be closely linked to a fitness-related gene, rather than directly affecting a trait. An example of such a marker may be

an intronic microsatellite. Finally, the general effect hypothesis predicts that individual heterozygosity reflects genome-wide heterozygosity and that this is expected to be correlated with the individual's inbreeding coefficient and, thus, to be associated with fitness.

The heterozygosity-fitness correlation studies have often been using neutral microsatellite markers, but recently, Olano-Marin et al. (2011a; b) added an additional dimension to this research field when they reported contrasting heterozygosity-fitness correlations for loci presumed to be neutral *vs*. functionally important. In their blue tit (*Cyanistes caeruleus*) study population they showed that heterozygosity at 58 gene-linked microsatellites was negatively related to hatching and the local recruitment success of females, while heterozygosity at 21 presumably neutral microsatellite loci was positively associated with adult survival. These authors hypothesized that the negative heterozygosity-fitness correlations observed for functional loci were best explained by the local effect (outbreeding depression) hypothesis. Thus, markers developed from the candidate gene approach can also be used in the heterozygosity-fitness/behaviour correlation studies to shed light on contrasting effects between different marker categories.

3.1.2 Linkage mapping and QTL studies

In QTL mapping studies, the aim is to link the phenotypic variation with the DNA sequence variation. To do this, a cross between phenotypically different strains is created and the segregation of parental polymorphisms is correlated with the phenotypic variation. Statistical methods, like single marker analysis or interval mapping, is used to detect regions in the genome where the segregation of polymorphic markers correlates with the differences in phenotypic values. These QTL regions often contain a large number of genes and it is challenging to identify the genes that are affecting the trait. Increasing the amount of recombinants might improve the resolution where the QTL is and also the testing of whether the potential candidate genes from the QTL region contain polymorphisms that could be associated with the phenotypic variation. (Falconer and Mackay 1996; Lynch and Walsh 1998).

Due to the developments in molecular biology and bioinformatics, it is now easier than before to conduct QTL studies with wild animals (Ellegren and Sheldon 2008; Slate et al. 2009; Slate 2005). Hence, instead of only relying on domesticated animals and model organisms, the study of wild-derived animals provides new opportunities to improve our understanding of the genetic basis of quantitative traits (Kruuk et al. 2008; Slate 2005). Compared to morphological traits, studying the genetic basis of behaviour is challenging, because heritabilities and repeatabilities are relatively low in behavioural traits (Bell et al. 2009; Boake 1989; Mousseau and Roff 1987). However,

QTL mapping has been successfully used in identifying the genomic areas associated with behaviour (Flint and Corley 1996; van Oers and Mueller 2010; Reif and Lesch 2003).

In order to map the phenotypes to genome, a linkage map is needed. Previously, only one mapping study has been conducted with nine-spined sticklebacks, in which several skeletal traits and sex determination was mapped in North-American populations (Shapiro et al. 2009). In multiple three-spined stickleback populations two genes Pituitary homeobox transcription factor 1 (Pitx1) and Ectodysplasin (Eda) have had a major effect on the evolution of derived pelvic and armour phenotypes, respectively (Cole et al. 2003; Colosimo et al. 2005; Colosimo et al. 2004; Coyle et al. 2007; Cresko et al. 2004; Shapiro et al. 2004). However, in the study of Shapiro et al. (2009) the results revealed that the measured pelvic traits were situated in chromosome regions not previously known to control the corresponding traits in three-spined sticklebacks, suggesting these convergent morphological traits, which are model traits in the evolutionary biology, might have different genetic origins in the two species. Because we see the same phenotypic differences in Fennoscandian nine-spined stickleback populations too, although they represent a different evolutionary lineage from the North-American clade (Aldenhoven et al. 2010; Shikano et al. 2010c), it would be interesting to compare the genetics of these fish with the North-American nine-spined stickleback and also with the three-spined stickleback. Adding microsatellite markers that are linked to candidate genes to the linkage map would help us find potential genes affecting the studied trait (Shikano et al. 2010b). In addition, QTL mapping of both behavioural and morphological traits would reveal possible genomic linkages/ pleiotropism between different traits.

3.2 Nine-spined stickleback samples

The nine-spined sticklebacks used in my studies were from pond and marine populations originating from Fennoscandia (Figure 3). Ponds are free of piscine predators and competitors, while marine populations are sympatric to a number of predatory or competitor fish species. As I was interested in genetically based differences, my studies were based on fish reared in laboratory under common garden settings, in two cross schemes. The samples for studies I and II were from first generation full-sib families (family setting) and in studies III-V second generation hybrids (F₂-cross) were generated.

3.2.1 Studies I-II: family setting

The fish used in studies I and II were the same as in Herczeg et al. (2009a). Adult nine-spined sticklebacks were collected from two coastal marine (Helsinki, Baltic Sea,

Finland; $60^{\circ}13'N$; $25^{\circ}11'E$ and Levin Navolok, White Sea, Russia; $66^{\circ}18'N$; $33^{\circ}25'E$) populations and two isolated pond (Bynästjärnen, Sweden; $64^{\circ}27'N$; $19^{\circ}26'E$ and Pyöreälampi, Finland; $66^{\circ}15'N$; $29^{\circ}26'E$) populations. An F₁ laboratory generation was produced and subsequently raised in a common garden environment as outlined in Herczeg et al. (2009a). Five full-sib families from each population were available for the study and no parental individual was used in more than one cross. Ten fish from each family (200 individuals) were housed individually and visual contact between the tanks was blocked by white plastic panels. In this experiment, 79 offspring were used (the extra fish were for other experiments), 17 from Baltic Sea, 22 from the White Sea, 19 from Bynästjärnen and 21 from Pyöreälampi. In study I only parental fish were used, while in study II I used the offspring in the main analysis.

3.2.2 Studies III-V: F₂-cross

The fish forming the grand-parental generation (F_0) were collected from a marine population from the Baltic Sea (Helsinki, Finland; 60°13'N, 25°11'E) and from a pond population from north-eastern Finland (Rytilampi; 66°23'N, 29°19'E). The breeding conditions are explained in the chapter of this thesis. In short, a female fish from the marine population was mated with a male from the pond population and the resulting F_1 -offpring was group-reared. Once the F_1 -fish had matured, one randomly selected male and female were selected, and allowed to mate and produce clutches *in vivo*. This pair produced seven successive clutches and the laid clutches were removed from the male's nest and reared in 1.4 L tanks until hatching. About six days after hatching 400 F_2 -offspring were placed individually in 1.4 L tanks. Visibility between the tanks was blocked by placing white plastic sheets between the tanks. Hence, the fish were completely predation- and competition-naive and free from parasites potentially altering behaviour during the rearing period. Due to juvenile mortality, 283 fish (reaching adult size) were used in subsequent analyses.



Figure 3. The study populations used in studies **I & II** are marked as circles; open circles denote pond and black circles for marine populations. Stars indicate populations used in the QTL-studies **III-V** (open star for pond and grey for marine). BYN, Bynästjärnen; RYT, Rytilampi; PYÖ, Pyöreälampi; WHI, White Sea; BAL, Baltic Sea. In upper left corner picture there are two fully-grown mature female nine-spined sticklebacks; one from Rytilampi (on the left) and one from the Baltic Sea (on the right).

3.3 Behavioural trials and PCA

3.3.1 Study II: normal feeding, risky feeding, boldness and aggression

The estimates of behaviour used in study **II** were feeding activity, aggression and boldness (see Herczeg et al. 2009a), and these traits were only measured from the offspring. Trials were conducted on 8-month-old fish that had been raised from fertilization individually in 1.4-1 tanks of zebrafish racks. Therefore, the tested fish were fully predator- and conspecific naïve. Feeding activity was measured in two contexts: first, as the time until the first bite in a normal feeding event in the morning (hereafter, 'normal feeding'), and second, as the time until the first bite after a simulated attack (hereafter, 'risky feeding'). This second measure can be seen as an alternate measure of boldness in addition to our boldness measurement. Aggression was estimated using two variables, the time spent oriented towards a stimulus fish and the number of attacks the focal fish made towards

the stimulus fish. Finally, boldness was estimated with two variables, the time taken for a fish to appear (i.e. head out) and to completely emerge (i.e. full body out) from a refuge in a novel environment.

3.3.2 Studies III-V: feeding activity, risk-taking and exploration

In the studies III-V three behavioural traits were assessed following Herczeg and Välimäki (2011) in the following order: feeding activity (normal feeding), risk-taking (risky feeding) and exploration (boldness). The brackets contain the corresponding trials used in study II. Feeding activity is a normal behaviour in a familiar environment, risk-taking is a disturbed activity in a familiar environment and exploration is a disturbed activity in an unfamiliar environment (see details above), hence, all three behaviours described activity / boldness in different contexts. Subsequent behavioural tests of the same individuals were separated by an interval of at least four days. Fish were photographed for the morphological purposes (see below) and behavioural trials were conducted between the last two rounds of photographing separated by 28 days. From 283 offspring tested, 10 individuals were excluded because of unsuccessful behavioural trials.

3.3.3 Principal component analyses

In both datasets all behavioural traits were correlated, thus principal component analyses (PCA) were used to get independent composite variables describing behavioural type. In the study II three PC –variables were generated and used solely in the statistical analysis: $PC_{Aggression}$, $PC_{Boldness}$ and $PC_{Complex behaviour}$. For $PC_{Aggression}$ higher values indicate more aggressive individuals, and for $PC_{Boldness}$ higher values refer to shyer fish. Because our four behavioural variables, $PC_{Aggression}$, $PC_{Boldness}$, normal feeding and risky feeding (the latter two being based on single variables), were correlated across the pooled sample, another PCA was run ($PC_{Complex behaviour}$) on all original variables to combine one or more independent variables describing the behavioural type, which is the configuration of several behaviours at the individual level (Bell 2007). In this, higher values of $PC_{Complex behaviour}$ describe more aggressive, bolder and more readily feeding (both normal and risky) fish.

In addition to mapping the original variables in the QTL-studies (**III-V**), two PCs were extracted from combining all the variables and these were also used in the mapping analysis. PC1 was positively correlated with feeding activity, risk-taking and, to a lesser extent, with exploration. Therefore this PC can be viewed as a variable describing the common component of all measured behaviours, i.e. placing the fish along a general shyness-boldness continuum. PC2 was strongly positively correlated with exploration,

but not with feeding activity or risk-taking. Hence, PC2 can be viewed as a variable describing an independent aspect of exploration.

3.4 Morphological measurements for studies III & V

The growth parameters were assessed from standard length data collected from photographs of each individual taken at the following time points: 19, 47, 75, 103, 131 and 159 days (SL1, SL2, SL3, SL4, SL5, SL6) post-hatching, respectively. Three growth parameters were estimated: initial fish length (L_0 , mm), asymptotic fish length (L_{max}) mm), and growth constant (k, mm day-1). These parameters were obtained by fitting von Bertalanffy growth curve to the measurements of length (mm) at age t (days), collected from each individual over time points given above (Von Bertalanffy 1938). Initial fish length is a parameter derived from the growth curve, but has no biological relevance in this case. Asymptotic fish length is the estimated maximum size of each individual (the fish will never truly reach it). The growth constant is a relative measure of growth that indicates how quickly the size approaches the asymptote and it is linearly related to maximum growth rate on an absolute scale (mm day-1, Aikio et al. 2013). The size changes between subsequent ages were also analysed (growth increments: GR1, GR2, GR3, GR4, GR5; GR1 = ((SL2-SL1)/SL1)x100, GR2 = ((SL3-SL2)/SL2)x100, etc.). Right after the last photographs were taken and the fish were over-anesthetised, the fresh weight of each fish was recorded and they were photographed laterally with a digital camera. As an additional measure of body size a centroid size (csize) was used, which is the square root of the sum of the squared distances from the centroid of each landmark (Bookstein 1991). The fish were stained and pelvic spine and girdle lengths were measured with digital callipers. Both left and right pelvic girdles and spines were measured twice by the same person, and the averaged values were used for analyses.

3.5 Molecular methods

In study **I**, microsatellite markers were designed by using the candidate gene approach discussed above and shown in Figure 2. Possible candidate genes were identified from the literature and same gene homologues were searched from the three-spined stickleback genome and primers were designed based on the sequence. These primers were tested in nine-spined sticklebacks to locate microsatellite areas. When a possible area was found microsatellite primers were designed and the polymorphism level was determined by using the parental fish from the family dataset.

In the studies **II-V** microsatellite markers were used. The markers were divided into three groups based on their location relative to flanking genes with different functions or being randomly selected: markers that were linked to candidates of behaviourally important genes (study I); markers that were associated with putatively physiologically important genes (Shikano et al. 2010b; Shimada et al. 2011b); and randomly selected markers (Colosimo et al. 2004; Heckel et al. 2002; Largiadèr et al. 1999; Miller et al. 2007; Mäkinen et al. 2008; Peichel et al. 2001; Shapiro et al. 2009; Shikano et al. 2011).

3.6 Data analyses

3.6.1 Study II

Individual genetic diversity based on all the 84 markers was estimated using standardized heterozygosity (SH: Coltman et al. 1999). SH is not sensitive to missing alleles (Coltman et al. 1999) and it gives the same weight to all markers, regardless of the number of alleles and the frequency of these alleles (Olano-Marin et al. 2011b). SH was also calculated for different marker function groups separately (12 markers for behaviour gene group, 33 physiologically important gene markers and 39 randomly selected markers). The individual genetic diversities were calculated with GENHET v3 (Coulon 2010) using the parental data for the estimation of baseline allele frequencies for each population separately. To test the effects of the diversity of different marker groups on nine-spined stickleback behaviour, general linear mixed models (GLMMs) were used, as implemented in PROC MIXED (Littel et al. 2006) in SAS 9.2 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA). In addition to multilocus heterozygosity, the associations between single-locus variability and behavioural variables were tested as an alternative means of distinguishing between local and general effects (Hansson and Westerberg 2002). The single-locus heterozygosity (SLH) for every behavioural variable was measured fitting one model per locus. Multiple testing correction was performed via the false discovery rate (FDR) procedure using the program QVALUE (Storey and Tibshirani 2003) with an FDR threshold of 0.05. This program calculates q-values, which are the extensions of FDR describing the proportion of false positives incurred within a set of significant features (Storey and Tibshirani 2003).

3.6.2 Studies III-V

Linkage map was constructed using improved CRI-MAP 2.5 (Green et al. 1990). The logarithm of the odds (LOD) scores for all pairs of markers were obtained using the TWOPOINT option. LOD score threshold of 3.0 was used as a significant criterion for linkage. For each linkage group (LG), the best order of the markers was determined using the BUILD option by beginning with the most informative marker pair. The markers that could not be fitted straight with BUILD and LOD score 4.0 were fitted manually. The FLIPS option (N = 3-5) was used to evaluate the statistical significance of the obtained order. After the best order was determined within each linkage group, double recombination events were detected using the CHROMPIC option. Individuals

with over four recombinations were removed and a second CRIMAP analysis round was conducted. Linkage maps were drawn using MAPCHART 2.2 (Voorrips 1994).

Genomic synteny was investigated by comparing my linkage map with the three-spined stickleback genome (Jones et al. 2012) and the linkage map of North American nine-spined sticklebacks (Shapiro et al. 2009). For the markers developed specifically for nine-spined sticklebacks, microsatellite flanking sequences were subject to BLASTN searches against the three-spined stickleback genome to identify homologous genomic regions. BLAST hits were considered significant at a threshold of E < 10-5. Out of 226 informative markers in my linkage map, 110 were used for the linkage map of North American nine-spined sticklebacks (Shapiro et al. 2009).

A total of 226 markers were used in the QTL analyses. Due to recombination rate differences sex-average linkage map distances were used in QTL mapping. QTL mapping was performed in GridQTL (available at http://www.gridqtl.org.uk/) by using the BCF2 portlet and fitting both additive and dominance effects. Analyses were performed at 1 cM intervals. The percentage of the phenotypic variance explained by the QTL was calculated following Zhou et al. (2006). Sex, clutch information and centroid size were used as covariates when needed. Chromosome and experiment wide significance levels were determined by using permutation tests with 10 000 iterations to evaluate the significance of detected QTL. QTL were considered significant when the F-value was above the 5% experiment-wide threshold and suggestive when it was above the 5% chromosome-wide threshold. Confidence intervals were obtained with bootstrap analysis with 10 000 iterations.

MAIN RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.

4.1 Candidate genes and heterozygosity-behaviour correlations (I & II)

In the first chapter of my PhD I developed 13 new microsatellite markers which were located close to candidate genes for behaviour in nine-spined stickleback. Their polymorphism levels were tested by using nine-spined stickleback samples from four different populations; two marine (BAL, WHI) and two pond populations (BYN, PYÖ). All loci were polymorphic but lower levels of observed heterozygosities were found in populations from pond habitats when compared to those from marine habitats, which was consistent with earlier studies (Shikano et al. 2010c). These markers add to the anonymous markers and to physiologically important gene markers currently available for nine-spined sticklebacks (Koizumi et al. 2007; Meguro et al. 2009; Shapiro et al. 2009; Shikano et al. 2010b). Overall, these markers should provide a useful resource for a better understanding of the genetic basis of behaviour in sticklebacks.

In the second chapter these and additional markers were used to investigate whether there is a relationship between individual heterozygosity and behaviour in the four populations. With the laboratory settings I made sure that the inbreeding coefficient was constant, thus enabling me to have more power in detecting heterozygosity-behaviour correlations. No associations were detected with any behavioural trait in any population or over all populations when genetic variability was measured using all the markers combined. This suggests that the number of markers is not necessarily a guarantee for detecting a correlation between heterozygosity and behaviour – an observation that contrasts previous studies (Aparicio et al. 2007; Balloux et al. 2004; Slate et al. 2004; Slate and Pemberton 2002). It seems that rather the functional constraint the marker is experiencing and the population-specific effects will determine the correlation to be detected. When I separated the markers into three functional categories (behavioural, physiological and random), several significant associations were observed, but only in one of the four populations assessed, in the Baltic Sea population from Helsinki, Finland (Figure 4). In this population, the strongest correlation existed between markers of physiological importance and of complex behaviour, with less aggressive, less bold and less active feeder fish being more heterozygous. This indicates a direct link between the measured behavioural traits and the physiological mechanisms controlling behaviour (Sneddon 2003; Wilson and McLaughlin 2007), such as the correlations between metabolic rate and behaviour (Biro and Stamps 2010; Careau et al. 2008).

Furthermore when dividing the physiological gene markers into further subcategories based on their specific physiological functions, a strong relationship between the heterozygosity of markers linked to osmoregulation-related genes and behaviour was unravelled. Osmoregulation is a highly energy-consuming process (Tseng and Hwang 2008) and it has been noted that appropriate behaviour can be an important component of the osmoregulatory process (Wolcott and Wolcott 2001). Yet, another observation described in the study performed by Lesbarrères et al. (2005) showed that heterozygosity-fitness correlations were most pronounced in stressful environments. In this regard, the fact that the strongest association was observed with markers linked to genes with an osmoregulatory function may suggest that the brackish water environment could contribute to the observed association. The salinities observed in the Baltic Sea are in fact quite variable, and annual fluctuations are also observed regionally (Alenius et al. 1998). Thus, local variation in salinity could pose osmoregulatory challenges specific to this population compared with the others included in the study. The fact that the observed heterozygosity-behaviour correlation was negative (i.e. less genetically variable fish were bolder) can be explained if adaptation to local conditions is also important (Emlen 1991; Purcell et al. 2010; Purcell et al. 2008).

In addition to physiological markers I also saw correlations between random markers and behaviour, but the effect was the opposite: bold fish being more heterozygous (Figure 4.). As mentioned above, in a recent study on birds a negative association was observed with several fitness traits for functional markers, whereas a positive association was observed with neutral marker heterozygosity (Olano-Marin et al. 2011b). The authors proposed that these different results could be distinguishing local (functional marker) and global (neutral marker) effects. This is also a plausible explanation for the results observed in my study. My random and supposedly neutral loci may reflect variation across the genome (inbreeding depression), and functional loci may reflect local effects through loci linked to behaviour. The negative correlation between physiological markers and both boldness and complex behaviour in the Baltic Sea population could therefore be attributed to outbreeding depression associated with local adaptations (Emlen 1991). Physiologically important genes and their function are crucial for an individual's survival in its local habitat, so we can assume that introgression of non-locally adapted genes (or alleles) could affect viability in the local environment. This could be particularly true for osmoregulatory functions in primarily freshwater species, such as the nine-spined stickleback, in a brackish water environment, such as the Baltic Sea (Papakostas et al. 2012). Directional selection has been shown to affect physiological gene markers more frequently than randomly distributed ones in threespined sticklebacks, which provides additional evidence that local effects are important (Shimada et al. 2011b).

The Baltic Sea population exhibited the highest level of genetic variability and was therefore more sensitive with respect to the detection of inbreeding depression (Szulkin and David 2011). The environmental conditions experienced by the two pond populations, as well as the extremely low levels of genetic diversity observed in these populations, would suggest that they are much more likely to be affected by inbreeding than the more genetically variable marine populations. However, the very low level of genetic variability may complicate the detection of heterozygosity-behaviour correlations in these cases.



Figure 4. An example of contrasting effects. The relationship between standardized heterozygosity and boldness in Baltic sea population. Standardised heterozygosity was estimated using either physiologically important gene (\diamond) or randomly selected (\Box) microsatellite markers. The lines represent the linear relationship between standardised heterozygosity and boldness (dashed line for physiological markers, solid line for random markers). Within population coefficients of determination (R^2) are given in the figure; R^2_{Phys} for physiological markers and R^2_{Ran} for random markers.

4.2 Linkage map and quantitative trait loci analysis (III-V)

4.2.1 Linkage map and QTL for pelvic reduction (III)

I constructed a linkage map for the Northern European nine-spined sticklebacks utilizing 226 microsatellite markers (Figure 5). When comparing this map to the three-spined stickleback genome a segment corresponding to LG 7 in three-spined sticklebacks was linked to LG 12 in Northern European nine-spined sticklebacks. None of the loci located in this region show linkage to the markers mapped to LG 7. Thus, the rearrangement of genetic linkage patterns is likely due to a chromosomal

rearrangement that has occurred after the divergence between three-spined and ninespined sticklebacks. In the previous North American nine-spined stickleback linkage map no linkage was detected between this segmental part and LG 12 (Shapiro et al. 2009). It remains unclear if the arrangement of linkage patterns has occurred before or after the split between Northern European and North American populations. I further detected potential chromosomal inversions in several linkage groups as compared to the three-spined stickleback genome but, however, could not rule out errors in the genome sequences of three-spined stickleback (Natri et al. 2013; Ross and Peichel 2008). I also mapped the sex-determining gene to LG 12 which is the same location as in North American fish (Shapiro et al. 2009). Although it is not certain whether the linkage between LG 12 and the segment of LG 7 is caused by physical or pseudo linkage, it appears that the segmental region of LG 7 co-segregates with the sex-determining locus in Northern European nine-spined sticklebacks. Theoretical studies have shown that the formation of linkage between the sex-determining locus and autosomal genes under sexually antagonistic selection has significant consequences on both population fitness and sex chromosome evolution (Charlesworth and Charlesworth 1980; van Doorn and Kirkpatrick 2007). Thus, it would be interesting to investigate in future studies whether the genes affecting sexually dimorphic traits and mating behaviour reside in the chromosomal region newly linked to the sex-determining locus.

In this study pelvic spine and girdle length were mapped (Table 1) and I found that the location for pelvis reduction was different compared to North American nine-spined sticklebacks, where pelvic spine and girdle lengths were located in LG 4 (Shapiro et al. 2009). In my study, QTL for pelvic spine and girdle lengths were identified in the region of the *Pitx1* gene in LG 7 which is the same region responsible for pelvic reduction in three-spined sticklebacks. These results have two possible explanations: either there has evolved a distinct genetic mechanism for pelvic reduction in nine-spined sticklebacks possibly within the last 1.6 million years after the split between Northern European and North American populations, or the mapping conditions in the North American study were not sufficient to locate this QTL.



Figure 5. Sex-averaged linkage map of the northern European nine-spined stickleback. Marker positions are given in cM. The black square corresponds to the chromosomal rearrangement originated from LG7.

4.2.2 QTL for behaviour (IV)

In chapter IV three behavioural measurements were QTL mapped; feeding activity, risktaking and exploration, in addition to the principal components (PC1 = the common behavioural component placing individuals along the shyness-boldness continuum; PC2 = an independent exploration component) calculated from these measurements to grasp the complex behavioural types. Behaviour is most likely polygenically regulated and thus many QTL are expected (Flint 2003), as was indeed the case in this study (Table 1). Two significant (experiment-wide) and six suggestive (chromosome-wide) QTL regions were found altogether. Together these QTL accounted for 4% to 20% of the total phenotypic variance in each of the behavioural variables.

In LG 3 I found QTL influencing different behavioural traits. This may suggest that the genetic factors influencing one behaviour may have pleiotropic effects on other behaviours, or that genetic factors influencing different behaviours cluster into this linkage group. The resolution of my linkage map does not allow me to differentiate between these alternatives. In addition, it seems that in the two measured main behavioural components, PC1 and PC2, were different from each other to map to different parts of nine-spined stickleback genome whereas the correlated traits (exploration and PC2) mapped to similar locations. This suggests that different genetic factors underlie different behaviours.

In addition to QTL amount, it was expected that pond alleles would be associated with an increase in the feeding activity, risk-taking and explorative behaviour of ninespined stickleback compared to alleles originating from marine populations, because of the population differences found from previous studies. In many cases, this was what I observed. However, there were also cases where pond population decreased behavioural activity especially in exploration and PC2 in contrast to the predictions. The explanation for these "cryptic" results might be found from chapter II. Variation (heterozygosity) in the wild has been probably maintained at the QTL loci affecting exploration due to the general effect result found from the random markers in chapter II. Therefore, these QTL loci are not behaving according to the expectation (that the loci affecting the characteristic traits of the grandparental populations would be fixed to different alleles in the populations). Due to this variation, alleles with "cryptic" effects are found in our study because the QTL genotypes of the picked grandparents are not known. Other explanation for these differing effects could be the new allele combinations in the offspring. Because different behaviours are commonly results of many genes acting together, combining the alleles from two populations in the offspring might lead to different behaviours than in grandparents because of the interactions between the new alleles.

In this study risk-taking was mapped to the same location where the pelvic reduction QTL is situated (chapter III). *Pitx1* might also be a potential candidate gene for behaviour due to findings in recent studies done with humans. It has been shown that *Pitx1* is linked with the behavioural aspects of autism, such as failure in stress/anxiety control (Philippi et al. 2007). Feeding can be stressful due to competition and predators which makes the pituitary-hypothalamic-adrenal (or interrenal in fishes) axis (HPA) system activated. Because *Pitx1* is a regulatory factor for the expression of hormones of HPA, which is known to be especially involved in stress response (Lamonerie et al. 1996), it can also affect the feeding activity and risk taking behaviour. In addition to *Pitx1*, many other possible candidate genes were identified with the help of gene linked microsatellite markers from both behavioural and physiological gene marker groups. More studies are needed to confirm the linkage between these genes and behavioural studies.

4.2.3 Body size and growth QTL (V)

In the final chapter the aim was to map body size and growth related traits which also show population differences similarly to the behavioural traits in Fennoscandian ninespined sticklebacks (Shimada et al. 2011a). Body size is an ecologically important trait, the genetic basis of which is thought to be highly polygenic in many organisms (Falconer and Mackay 1996). However, comparisons of growth patterns in different populations of nine-spined sticklebacks (Herczeg et al. 2012; Shimada et al. 2011a) suggest that size differences among populations could have been achieved by relatively simple genetic mechanisms. Namely, at the point in time when the growth of the fish from normal sized marine population levels off, the pond fish destined to continue their growth (Herczeg et al. 2012; Shimada et al. 2011a). Hence, it seemed possible that a simple 'genetic switch' – rather than complex polygenic inheritance – underlies the population differences in body size.

In this study I have identified several significant and suggestive QTL -influencing variations in body size and growth related traits. As opposed to the hypothesis of a simple major gene based "switch"-like genetic architecture of body size control in this species, the results support the idea that many genes with small effects underlie variability in body size. In total, 17 QTL locations were detected for body size and growth (Table 1). The proportion of phenotypic variation explained by individual body size-related QTL ranged from 3% to 12%, and those related to growth parameters and increments ranged from 3% to 10%. When comparing the amount of QTL found to be related to growth and body size in other fish, it is possible to divide the obtained results into two groups: fish with single major QTL for size or many QTL with small or intermediate effects (Hosoya et al. 2012). My result falls into the former group by having body size mapped to LG

13. Earlier studies done with three-spined stickleback suggest that this species has also a single QTL for size (Albert et al. 2008; Colosimo et al. 2004). However, although these two three-spined stickleback studies had a similar study setting (similar population cross design with comparable number individuals and markers) they mapped size to different locations. Hence, it seems that experimental designs are affecting the results instead of different evolutionary mechanisms. Furthermore, the main study questions in Albert et al. (2008) and in Colosimo et al. (2004) were about body shape and armour, respectively, and they chose the study populations irrespective of size possibly resulting in small size variation.

In addition size was measured in different time points during development. Early and late stage measurements were mapped to different locations (Table 1). Hence my results suggest distinct gene sets for early and later stage growth. Additive effects were generally more frequent in my study and this result is consistent with the findings of an earlier quantitative genetic study of body size divergence in Fennoscandian nine-spined stickleback populations (Ab Ghani et al. 2012). Similarly from conclusions of Ab Ghani *et al.* (2012) study, alleles from the paternal grandparent pond population increased body size both at the early and late stages of development.

As mentioned before, behaviour can have a direct impact on growth. When comparing these results with QTL analyses done with behavioural traits (chapter **IV**) I noticed that some of the QTL areas were similar. This indicates that genetic linkage or pleiotropic effects of single QTL may be the genetic mechanisms behind body size/growth and behaviour. The biological link can be straightforward also in nine-spined sticklebacks: more active/bold/explorative individuals are likely to gather more food, translating to higher energy input aiding faster growth and larger size. This is a very promising avenue for future studies, because it could provide direct proof that genetic variation in growth rates and patterns may be mediated by genetic factors influencing behaviour. In this study also many possible candidate genes for future studies were found.

Table 1. Distribution of QTL related to pelvic traits, behaviour, body size and growth across the 21 linkage groups indicating the chromosome- (grey blocks) and experiment- (black blocks) wide significance levels. Csize = centroid size; SLnumber = standard length measured at specific time point; Lmax = asymptotic length; k =growth constant; GRnumber = growth increment. For more details about the variables, see Materials and methods

Linkage groups	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21
Pelvic traits (III)																					
Left spine																					
Right spine																					
Left girdle																					
Right girdle																					
Behaviour (IV)																					
Feeding activity																					
Risk-taking																					
Exploration																					
PC1																					
PC2																					
Body size and growth (V)																					
Weight																					
Csize																					
SL1																					
SL2																					
SL3																					
SL4																					
SL5																					
SL6																					\Box
L _{max}																					\Box
k																					\Box
GR1																					\Box
GR2																					\Box
GR3																					
GR4					Γ	Γ					Ι								Γ	\square	\square
GR5					Γ	1					Τ							1	Γ_	Γ	П

5. IMPLICATIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

The main findings of my PhD project were twofold. First, I found heterozygositybehaviour correlations that varied between populations and the type of genetic markers (random *vs.* functionally important) used in nine-spined sticklebacks (chapter II), partly based on new, behavioural gene-linked microsatellite markers developed for my PhD project (chapter I). Second, I discovered links between adaptive phenotypic variation in fundamental traits like behaviour, growth and antipredatory morphology and variation in certain sections of the genome of nine-spined sticklebacks (chapters III-V). Given that nine-spined stickleback is a recently emerging evolutionary model (Merilä 2013), my results are not only interesting as they are, but they have the potential to stimulate lot of research in the near-future. In the following, I will first discuss the potential implications of my results on behaviour – heterozygosity correlations and second, of QTL mapping.

5.1 Variation in behaviour-fitness correlations

I have shown that heterozygosity correlates with behaviour in one of the marine nine-spined stickleback populations but with contrasting effects depending on the marker function. From the different functional marker categories a strong correlation was found between osmoregulation- related physiological gene markers and behaviour. Because the marine habitat presents a high predation risk for sticklebacks as well as variable brackish water salinity levels, these characteristics could place pressure on osmoregulation processes and thus require adaptations specific to this local environment. This hypothesis is still speculative at this stage; hence analysing additional populations and/or more specific tests of the effects of predation threats are required before any firm conclusions can be made. Furthermore, it would be interesting to correlate physiological and morphological traits with heterozygosity to see which of the marker groups associate with the traits and whether some of the results are similar with behavioural ones.

5.2 QTL mapping of traits with high ecological and evolutionary relevance

Thus far, there has only been one linkage map for nine-spined sticklebacks and this was now aided by a second linkage map with more markers constructed in this thesis. I observed genomic rearrangements between autosomal (LG7) and sex-determing (LG12) linkage groups. It is possible that phenotypes with sexual dimorphism are residing in this newly formed part in LG12. Further cytogenetic analyses would clarify whether the linkage between LG12 and the segment of LG7 has formed via physical or pseudo linkage, as well as verify the occurrence of intrachromosomal rearrangements in

Northern European nine-spined sticklebacks, which also has implications for a better understanding of chromosome evolution in general.

This thesis brought more light to population differences/convergent evolution and these insights were gained by studying divergent nine-spined stickleback populations. In addition to behaviour I also studied pelvic structures and body size/growth related traits as these also show large variation between nine-spined stickleback populations in northern Europe. One major QTL was found for pelvic structures and Pitx1 was related to these traits as was predicted from three-spined stickleback studies, but this was in contrast to earlier nine-spined stickleback study. My thesis studies revealed also that behaviour and body size/growth were genetically more complex traits by having more QTL than pelvic traits. In many cases pelvic structure, body size/growth and behaviour were linked to similar map locations indicating possible pleiotropic effects of genes locating in these QTL regions. In this thesis a candidate gene approach was used to see if some of the earlier studied behaviour related genes are linked to nine-spined stickleback behaviour, but the linkage was not obvious in many cases. Instead I found potential candidate genes from the physiology group for behaviour also in the QTL studies. In the future, studying the possible candidate genes found from QTL -studies by using for example targeted sequencing would show if there are sequences or some other mechanisms affecting these traits. In addition, improving the contrast of the QTL results by adding more individuals and making a denser map with more markers would reveal additional QTL for these traits.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

A long time ago in a galaxy far, far away...

There was a Jedi Grand Master called Craig Primmer. He observed how I, a Jedi Youngling, tried to balance between the two sides of the force. To save me from the dark side, he offered me the chance to be Padawan under his training. I agreed and I have never regretted this decision. I am grateful for his wisdom, patience and that he always had time for me. Thank you! Good onions!!

Because this PhD was a collaboration between two Jedi groups, PnP and EGRU, and as it is not easy to train a Padawan alone, Jedi Master Gábor Herczeg from the neighbouring planet stepped in to help. He introduced me to the interesting world of nine-spined sticklebacks and taught me everything about understanding the behaviour of this species. His enthusiasm over my results, even at times when I was not sure about them, helped me see the significance of my work.

To keep the dark side from becoming too tempting, the Jedi Grand Master Juha Merilä of the Helsinki Jedi group EGRU offered a helping hand. Because of him, I could count on everything running smoothly in Helsinki. He had several helpful ideas, especially during the writing process.

Jedi Master Takahito Shikano taught me to master the genetic code and showed me how to find the information in the code. His preciseness in scientific procedure is something that I wish to aim for as well. Thank you for being such an excellent Jedi to work with.

To observe the training process, two excellent support Jedis were chosen. I would like to thank Jedi Grand Master Johanna Vilkki for understanding my Sanskrit on genetic mapping and for always finding solutions to my problems. Jedi Master Katriina Tiira, you have been really encouraging during my training and I thank you for the kind words you have given me.

PnP, the group where all the best Younglings, Padawans, Jedi Knights and Masters reside, has been very supportive and a fun place to grow. I would especially like to thank my camp mates Heidi Viitaniemi and Ksenia Zueva and also Pavel Matos. Sharing the laughs and tears with you has been that certain SOMETHING. Thank you Knight Olaf Thalmann for your excellent company during coffee breaks, I hope I have not damaged your mind too much with my honesty. The same goes for Knight Paula Leskinen, my personal spirit guide, rakkaudesta se TaunTaunkin potkii! You are the best. Thank you Meri and Ville for your patience, I know that it must have been quite annoying to see my face in the window every day, but I guess my stories have been worth it. It does not

matter if you need company to go to the movies, to eat burned meat sticks outside or to go rowing in a big boat, you could always find someone to do this in PnP. Thanks PnP guys, Anti, Erica, Siim, Megha, Matti, Spiros, Susan J, Susan B, Tutku, Fernando, Vicky, Roland, Marru, Silva, Dima, Janne, Sanna O, Hannu, Tarja, Sanna P, Mikko, Johanna, Shihab, Tiina and Katja.

It must have been quite a shock when EGRU guys from Helsinki realised that this Turku Padawan is hanging out in their lab and doing messy experiments. I think I showed you guys that it is possible that also sane people can come from Turku. Or not. Thank you Vilppu, my fellow inmate from EGRU, for sharing your knowledge and fish, Marika for helping in the MES-lab, Chris for the nice chats and all others for the pleasant meetings and your co-operation.

And then, the dark side, all the Turku bat people. Without darkness you can not have light. It is all about the balance. Many times I ran away to the dark side to train my hunting skills with the best dark Jedis I know. Sith Lord Thomas Lilley, thank you for tolerating me all these years, I know I have been pain in da azz! Thank you also for your excellent travel company to the nights and abroad. Dark Lord Ville Vasko, you have been the best listener, no matter what the issue has been and I know that I can always bug you with my really important stuff. Poop Master Eero Vesterinen, I think you are the sanest person on the dark side, well, almost. Thank you for giving me advice even when I did not realise I needed it. Janina Stauffer, I admire your preciseness and courage and you not being afraid of me, sorry for the swearing in the woods. Thank you all the rest of Turku bat people for not letting me sleep in summertime.

Friends and fellow sufferers from the beginning of my journey, Kirsi Reponen, Kukka Kyrö, Jenny Siimes, I hope all the best for you. Hanna Tuominen, thank you for your wisdom, mostly concerning men. I have to say you are the best company in the dark woods when there are bears around! Maria Yli-Renko, the Siira mistress, thank you for being close to me when Hanna was around.

Thank you also the people from genetics Raija, Harri, Niklas, Irma, Christina, Seppo, Jadranka, Elsi, Saija, Carlos, Tobias, Rogelio, Bineet, J-P, Misha, Mikko, Tatjana, Petteri and others for the nice coffee break chats, lunch break company and positive working atmosphere. Also people from ecology, biodiversity and animal physiology; you all make the department of biology the best place to do science and have fun.

To keep me sane or insane depends how you look at it, I would like to thank the girls from Nefer. This dance group is about talent, friendship and compassion. It's a family and I would not have managed to survive as well as I did without you girls. You are my best friends now and forever. I would especially like to thank my sister, Riikka, for

leading such an excellent group. Our band, Namira, has also been a place where you could just forget all the troubles and concentrate on playing bad ass ethno music.

There are different families to thank. First I would like to thank my parents, Pappa and Mamma, for the support, whether it was food or words, you were always there to help. Love you. My sister Reeta and her hairy and cute family, thank you for the horseback riding company and for letting me roam in your woods during my Pyhtää vacations. I would also like to thank my aunt Aila for the excellent cookie recipe; these cookies make the world a much nicer place to live in. Families Hämäläinen and Turja, thank you for your kind words, boat trips and sauna evenings.

Lastly I would like to thank my best friend Niko. We have travelled a long way together and I am happy that you were there, during the ups and downs. Your wisdom, compassion and strength make you an excellent friend to have. Also I would like to thank our cats Nöpö and Pate, although they do not understand a word of this. But having them next to me every night when I was finishing this thesis made the struggle much easier.

REFERENCES

- Ab Ghani NI, Herczeg G, Merilä J (2012) Body size divergence in nine-spined sticklebacks: disentangling additive genetic and maternal effects. Biological Journal of the Linnean Society 107:521– 528.
- Adriaenssens B, Johnsson JI (2010) Shy trout grow faster: exploring links between personality and fitness-related traits in the wild. Behavioral Ecology 22:135–143.
- Aeschlimann PB, Häberli MA, Reusch TBH, Boehm T, Milinski M (2003) Female sticklebacks *Gasterosteus* aculeatus use self-reference to optimize MHC allele number during mate selection. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 54:119–126.
- Aikio S, Herczeg G, Kuparinen A, Merilä J (2013) Optimal growth strategies under divergent predation pressure. Journal of Fish Biology 82:318–331.
- Albert AYK, Sawaya S, Vines TH, Knecht AK, Miller CT, Summers BR, Balabhadra S, Kingsley DM, Schluter D (2008) The genetics of adaptive shape shift in stickleback: pleiotropy and effect size. Evolution 62:76–85.
- Aldenhoven JT, Miller MA, Corneli PS, Shapiro MD (2010) Phylogeography of ninespine sticklebacks (*Pungitius pungitius*) in North America: glacial refugia and the origins of adaptive traits. Molecular Ecology 19:4061–76.
- Alenius P, Myrberg K, Nekrasov A (1998) The physical oceanography of the Gulf of Finland: a review. Boreal Environment Research 3:97–125.
- Andersson J, Johansson F, Söderlund T (2006) Interactions between predator- and diet-induced phenotypic changes in body shape of crucian carp. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B 273:431–437.
- Anholt RRH, Mackay TFC (2009) Principles of behavioral genetics. Academic Press.
- Anholt RRH, Mackay TFC (2004) Quantitative genetic analyses of complex behaviours in *Drosophila*. Nature Reviews Genetics 5:838–849.
- Anholt RRH, Mackay TFC (2012) Genetics of aggression. Annual Review of Genetics 46:145–64.

- Aparicio JM, Ortego J, Cordero PJ (2007) Can a simple algebraic analysis predict markers-genome heterozygosity correlations? The Journal of Heredity 98:93–96.
- Balloux F, Amos W, Coulson T (2004) Does heterozygosity estimate inbreeding in real populations? Molecular Ecology 13:3021–3031.
- Bănărescu P, Paepke H (2001) The Freshwater Fishes of Europe. AULA-Verlag
- Belknap JK, Hitzemann R, Crabbe JC, Phillips TJ, Buck KJ, Williams RW (2001) QTL analysis and genomewide mutagenesis in mice: complementary genetic approaches to the dissection of complex traits. Behavior Genetics 31:5–15.
- Bell AM (2007) Future directions in behavioural syndromes research. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B 274:755–761.
- Bell AM (2001) Effects of an endocrine disrupter on courtship and aggressive behaviour of male threespined stickleback, *Gasterosteus aculeatus*. Animal Behaviour 62:775–780.
- Bell AM (2009) Approaching the genomics of risktaking behavior. Advances in Genetics 68:83–104.
- Bell AM, Hankison SJ, Laskowski KL (2009) The repeatability of behaviour: a meta-analysis. Animal Behaviour 77:771–783.
- Berger M, Gray JA, Roth BL (2009) The expanded biology of serotonin. Annual Review of Medicine 60:355–366.
- Von Bertalanffy L (1938) A quantitative theory of organic growth (inquires on growth laws II). Human Biology 10:181–213.
- Biro PA, Stamps JA (2010) Do consistent individual differences in metabolic rate promote consistent individual differences in behavior? Trends in Ecology and Evolution 25:653–659.
- Blanchet S, Bernatchez L, Dodson JJ (2009) Does interspecific competition influence relationships between heterozygosity and fitness-related behaviors in juvenile Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*)? Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 63:605–615.

- Boake CRB (1989) Repeatability : its role in evolutionary studies of mating behavior. Evolutionary Ecology 3:173–182.
- Boake CRB, Arnold SJ, Breden F, Meffert LM, Ritchie MG, Taylor BJ, Wolf JB, Moore AJ (2002) Genetic tools for studying adaptation and the evolution of behavior. The American Naturalist 160:S143–S159.
- Bookstein F (1991) Morphometric tools for landmark data: geometry and biology. Cambridge university press
- Brown C, Burgess F, Braithwaite VA (2007) Heritable and experiential effects on boldness in a tropical poeciliid. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 62:237–243.
- Bruneaux M, Johnston SE, Herczeg G, Merilä J, Primmer CR, Vasemägi A (2013) Molecular evolutionary and population genomic analysis of the nine-spined stickleback using a modified restrictionsite-associated DNA tag approach. Molecular Ecology 22:565–582.
- Careau V, Thomas D, Humphries MM, Réale D (2008) Energy metabolism and animal personality. Oikos 117:641–653.
- Careau V, Thomas D, Pelletier F, Turki L, Landry F, Garant D, Réale D (2011) Genetic correlation between resting metabolic rate and exploratory behaviour in deer mice (*Peromyscus maniculatus*). Journal of Evolutionary Biology 24:2153–2163.
- Chapman JR, Nakagawa S, Coltman DW, Slate J, Sheldon BC (2009) A quantitative review of heterozygosity-fitness correlations in animal populations. Molecular Ecology 18:2746–2765.
- Charlesworth D, Charlesworth B (1980) Sex differences in fitness and selection for centric fusions between sex-chromosomes and autosomes. Genetical Research 35:205–214.
- Cole NJ, Tanaka M, Prescott A, Tickle C (2003) Expression of limb initiation genes and clues to the morphological diversification of threespine stickleback. Current Biology 13:R951–952.
- Colman JR, Baldwin D, Johnson LL, Scholz NL (2009) Effects of the synthetic estrogen, 17alphaethinylestradiol, on aggression and courtship behavior in male zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). Aquatic Toxicology 91:346–354.

- Colosimo PF, Hosemann KE, Balabhadra S, Villarreal G, Dickson M, Grimwood J, Schmutz J, Myers RM, Schluter D, Kingsley DM (2005) Widespread parallel evolution in sticklebacks by repeated fixation of Ectodysplasin alleles. Science 307:1928–1933.
- Colosimo PF, Peichel CL, Nereng K, Blackman BK, Shapiro MD, Schluter D, Kingsley DM (2004) The genetic architecture of parallel armor plate reduction in threespine sticklebacks. PLoS Biology 2:635– 641.
- Coltman DW, Pilkington JG, Smith JA, Pemberton JM (1999) Parasite-mediated selection against inbred soay sheep in a free-living, island population. Evolution 53:1259–1267.
- Coltman DW, Slate J (2003) Microsatellite measures of inbreeding : a meta-analysis. Evolution 57:971–983.
- Coulon A (2010) GENHET: an easy-to-use R function to estimate individual heterozygosity. Molecular Ecology Resources 10:167–169.
- Coyle SM, Huntingford FA, Peichel CL (2007) Parallel evolution of *Pitx1* underlies pelvic reduction in Scottish threespine stickleback (*Gasterosteus aculeatus*). The Journal of Heredity 98:581–6.
- Cresko WA, Amores A, Wilson C, Murphy J, Currey M, Phillips P, Bell MA, Kimmel CB, Postlethwait JH (2004) Parallel genetic basis for repeated evolution of armor loss in Alaskan threespine stickleback populations. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of USA 101:6050– 6055.
- Cutts CJ, Adams CE, Campbell A (2001) Stability of physiological and behavioural determinants of performance in Arctic char (*Salvelinus alpinus*). Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 58:961–968.
- Cutts CJ, Metcalfe NB, Taylor AC (1999) Competitive asymmetries in territorial juvenile Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar*. Oikos 86:479–486.
- Cutts CJ, Metcalfe NB, Taylor AC (1998) Aggression and growth depression in juvenile Atlantic salmon: the consequences of individual variation in standard. Journal of Fish Biology 52:1026–1037.
- Damsgard B, Dill LM (1998) Risk-taking behavior in weight-compensating coho salmon, *Oncorhynchus kisutch*. Behavioral Ecology 9:26–32.

- Dingemanse NJ, Kazem AJN, Réale D, Wright J (2010) Behavioural reaction norms: animal personality meets individual plasticity. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 25:81–89.
- Donovan ER, Gleeson TT (2006) Metabolic support of moderate activity differs from patterns seen after extreme behavior in the desert iguana *Dipsosaurus dorsalis*. Physiological and Biochemical Zoology 79:370–388.
- Van Doorn GS, Kirkpatrick M (2007) Turnover of sex chromosomes induced by sexual conflict. Nature 449:909–912.
- Ducrest A-L, Keller L, Roulin A (2008) Pleiotropy in the melanocortin system, coloration and behavioural syndromes. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 23:502–510.
- Eklöv P, Jonsson P (2007) Pike predators induce morphological changes in young perch and roach. Journal of Fish Biology 70:155–164.
- Ellegren H, Sheldon BC (2008) Genetic basis of fitness differences in natural populations. Nature 452:169– 175.
- Emlen J (1991) Heterosis and outbreeding depression: a multi-locus model and an application to salmon production. Fisheries Research 12:187–212.
- Endler J (1977) Geographic variation, speciation and clines. Princeton University Press, Princeton
- Falconer D, Mackay TFC (1996) Introduction to quantitative genetics. Longman
- Fidler AE, Van Oers K, Drent PJ, Kuhn S, Mueller JC, Kempenaers B (2007) *Drd4* gene polymorphisms are associated with personality variation in a passerine bird. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B 274:1685–1691.
- Filby AL, Paull GC, Hickmore TF, Tyler CR (2010) Unravelling the neurophysiological basis of aggression in a fish model. BMC Genomics 11:498.
- Fitzpatrick MJ, Ben-Shahar Y, Smid HM, Vet LEM, Robinson GE, Sokolowski MB (2005) Candidate genes for behavioural ecology. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 20:96–104.
- Flint J (2003) Analysis of quantitative trait loci that influence animal behavior. Journal of Neurobiology 54:46–77.
- Flint J, Corley R (1996) Do animal models have a place in the genetic analysis of quantitative human

behavioural traits? Journal of Molecular Medicine 74:515–521.

- Garamszegi LZ, Herczeg G (2012) Behavioural syndromes, syndrome deviation and the withinand between-individual components of phenotypic correlations: when reality does not meet statistics. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 66:1651– 1658.
- Garamszegi LZ, Marko G, Herczeg G (2013) A metaanalysis of correlated behaviors with implications for behavioral syndromes: relationships between particular behavioral traits. Behavioral Ecology x:x-x.
- Gonda A, Herczeg G, Merilä J (2009) Habitatdependent and -independent plastic responses to social environment in the nine-spined stickleback (*Pungitius pungitius*) brain. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B 276:2085–2092.
- Gosling SD (2001) From mice to men: what can we learn about personality from animal research? Psychological Bulletin 127:45–86.
- Green P, Falls K, Crooks S (1990) Documentation for CRI-MAP (version 2.4).
- Hansson B, Westerberg L (2008) Heterozygosityfitness correlations within inbreeding classes: local or genome-wide effects? Conservation Genetics 9:73–83.
- Hansson B, Westerberg L (2002) On the correlation between heterozygosity and fitness in natural populations. Molecular Ecology 11:2467–2474.
- Heckel G, Zbinden M, Mazzi D, Kohler A, Reckeweg G, Bakker TCM, Largiad CR (2002) Microsatellite markers for the three-spined stickleback (*Gasterosteus aculeatus* L.) and their applicability in a freshwater and an anadromous population. Conservation Genetics 3:79–81.
- Herczeg G, Garamszegi LZ (2012) Individual deviation from behavioural correlations: a simple approach to study the evolution of behavioural syndromes. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 66:161–169.
- Herczeg G, Gonda A, Kuparinen A, Merilä J (2012) Contrasting growth strategies of pond versus marine populations of nine-spined stickleback (*Pungitius pungitius*): a combined effect of predation and competition? Evolutionary Ecology 26:109–122.

- Herczeg G, Gonda A, Merilä J (2009a) Predation mediated population divergence in complex behaviour of nine-spined stickleback (*Pungitius pungitius*). Journal of Evolutionary Biology 22:544– 552.
- Herczeg G, Gonda A, Merilä J (2009b) Evolution of gigantism in nine-spined sticklebacks. Evolution 63:3190–3200.
- Herczeg G, Gonda A, Merilä J (2009c) The social cost of shoaling covaries with predation risk in ninespined stickleback, *Pungitius pungitius*, populations. Animal Behaviour 77:575–580.
- Herczeg G, Turtiainen M, Merilä J (2010) Morphological divergence of North-European nine-spined sticklebacks (*Pungitius pungitius*): signatures of parallel evolution. Biological Journal of the Linnean Society 101:403–416.
- Herczeg G, Välimäki K (2011) Intraspecific variation in behaviour: effects of evolutionary history, ontogenetic experience and sex. Journal of Evolutionary Biology 24:2434–2444.
- Hill MS, Hill AL (2002) Morphological plasticity in the tropical sponge *Anthosigmella varians*: responses to predators and wave energy. The Biological Bulletin 202:86–95.
- Hjelm J, Svanbäck R, Byström P, Persson L, Wahlström E (2001) Diet-dependent body morphology and ontogenetic reaction norms in Eurasian perch. Oikos 95:311–323.
- Holopainen IJ, Aho J, Vornanen M, Huuskonen H (1997) Phenotypic plasticity and predator effects on morphology and physiology of crucian carp in nature and in the laboratory. Journal of Fish Biology 50:781–798.
- Hosoya S, Kai W, Fujita M, Miyaki K, Suetake H, Suzuki Y, Kikuchi K (2012) The genetic architecture of growth rate in juvenile *Takifugu* species. Evolution 67:590–598.
- Inoue-Murayama M (2009) Genetic polymorphism as a background of animal behavior. Animal Science Journal 80:113–120.
- Johansson F, Andersson J (2009) Scared fish get lazy, and lazy fish get fat. The Journal of Animal Ecology 78:772–777.
- Jones FC, Grabherr MG, Chan YF, et al. (2012) The genomic basis of adaptive evolution in threespine sticklebacks. Nature 484:55–61.

- Kaeuffer R, Peichel CL, Bolnick DI, Hendry AP (2012) Parallel and nonparallel aspects of ecological, phenotypic, and genetic divergence across replicate population pairs of lake and stream stickleback. Evolution 66:402–418.
- Koizumi N, Jinguji H, Takahashi H, Higuchi M, Takata K, Minezawa M, Takemura T, Mori A (2007) Isolation and characterization of polymorphic microsatellite DNA markers in the Omono type of ninespine stickleback, genus *Pungitius*. Molecular Ecology Notes 7:1315–1318.
- Krebs JR, Davies NB (1997) Behavioural ecology: an evolutionary approach. Wiley-Blackwell
- Kruuk LEB, Slate J, Wilson AJ (2008) New answers for old questions: the evolutionary quantitative genetics of wild animal populations. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 39:525–548.
- Lahti K, Huuskonen H, Laurila A, Piironen J (2002) Metabolic rate and aggressiveness between brown trout populations. Functional Ecology 16:167–174.
- Laine VN, Primmer CR, Herczeg G, Merilä J, Shikano T (2012) Isolation and characterization of 13 new nine-spined stickleback, *pungitius pungitius*, microsatellites located nearby candidate genes for behavioural variation. Annales Zoologici Fennici 49:123–128.
- Lamonerie T, Tremblay JJ, Lanctôt C, Therrien M, Gauthier Y, Drouin J (1996) *Ptx1*, a bicoid-related homeo box transcription factor involved in transcription of the pro-opiomelanocortin gene. Genes & Development 10:1284–1295.
- Largiadèr C, Fries V, Kobler B, Bakker T (1999) Isolation and characterization of microsatellite loci from the three-spined stickleback (*Gasterosteus aculeatus* L.). Molecular Ecology 8:342–344.
- Laurila A, Lindgren B, Laugen AT (2008) Antipredator defenses along a latitudinal gradient in *Rana temporaria*. Ecology 89:1399–413.
- Lesbarrères D, Primmer CR, Laurila A, Merilä J (2005) Environmental and population dependency of genetic variability-fitness correlations in *Rana temporaria*. Molecular Ecology 14:311–323.
- Lima SL, Dill LM (1990) Behavioral decisions made under the risk of predation: a review and prospectus. Canadian Journal of Zoology 68:619–640.

- Littel R, Milliken G, Stroup W, Wolfinger RD, Schabenberger O (2006) SAS for mixed models. SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC
- Lucas MD, Drew RE, Wheeler PA, Verrell PA, Thorgaard GH (2004) Behavioral differences among rainbow trout clonal lines. Behavior Genetics 34:355–365.
- Lynch M, Walsh B (1998) Genetics and Analysis of Quantitative Traits. Sinauer
- Lyons LA, Laughlin TF, Copeland NG, Jenkins NA, Womack JE, O'Brien SJ (1997) Comparative anchor tagged sequences (CATS) for integrative mapping of mammalian genomes. Nature Genetics 15:47–56.
- Magurran AE (1990) The inheritance and development of minnow anti-predator behaviour. Animal Behaviour 39:834–842.
- Meguro Y, Takahashi H, Takeshima H, Nishida M, Goto A (2009) Isolation and characterization of 13 microsatellite loci in the nine-spined stickleback (*Pungitius pungitius*) and cross-species amplification in 5 stickleback species (family *Gasterosteidae*). Conservation Genetics Resources 1:31–34.
- Merilä J (2013) Nine-spined stickleback (*Pungitius pungitius*): an emerging model for evolutionary biology research. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1289:18-35.
- Metcalfe NB, Taylor AC, Thorpe JE (1995) Metabolic rate, social status and life-history strategies in Atlantic salmon. Animal Behaviour 49:431–436.
- Miller CT, Beleza S, Pollen AA, Schluter D, Kittles RA, Mark D, Kingsley DM (2007) Cis-regulatory changes in Kit ligand expression and parallel evolution of pigmentation in sticklebacks and humans. Cell 131:1179–1189.
- Mobley KB, Lussetti D, Johansson F, Englund G, Bokma F (2011) Morphological and genetic divergence in Swedish postglacial stickleback (*Pungitius pungitius*) populations. BMC Evolutionary Biology 11:287.
- Mousseau TA, Roff DA (1987) Natural selection and the heritability of fitness components. Heredity 59:181–197.
- Mäkinen HS, Cano JM, Merilä J (2008) Identifying footprints of directional and balancing selection in marine and freshwater three-spined stickleback

(*Gasterosteus aculeatus*) populations. Molecular Ecology 17:3565–3582.

- Natri HM, Shikano T, Merilä J (2013) Progressive recombination suppression and differentiation in recently evolved neo-sex chromosomes. Molecular Biology and Evolution 30:1131–1144.
- Nilsson PA, Brönmark C, Pettersson LB (1995) Benefits of a predator-induced morphology in crucian carp. Oecologia 104:291–296.
- Noblett KL, Coccaro EF (2005) Molecular genetics of personality. Current Psychiatry Reports 7:73–80.
- Van Oers K, Mueller JC (2010) Evolutionary genomics of animal personality. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B 365:3991–4000.
- Olano-Marin J, Mueller JC, Kempenaers B (2011a) Heterozygosity and survival in blue tits (*Cyanistes caeruleus*): contrasting effects of presumably functional and neutral loci. Molecular Ecology 20:4028–4041.
- Olano-Marin J, Mueller JC, Kempenaers B (2011b) Correlations between heterozygosity and reproductive success in the blue tit (*Cyanistes caeruleus*): an analysis of inbreeding and single locus effects. Evolution 65:3175–3194.
- Orr HA (2005) The genetic theory of adaptation: a brief history. Nature Reviews Genetics 6:119–127.
- Page RE, Rueppell O, Amdam G V (2012) Genetics of reproduction and regulation of honeybee (*Apis mellifera* L.) social behavior. Annual Review of Genetics 46:97–119.
- Papakostas S, Vasemägi A, Vähä J-P, Himberg M, Peil L, Primmer CR (2012) A proteomics approach reveals divergent molecular responses to salinity in populations of European whitefish (*Coregonus lavaretus*). Molecular Ecology 21:3516–3530.
- Peichel CL, Nereng KS, Ohgi KA, Cole BL, Colosimo PF, Buerkle CA, Schluter D, Kingsley DM (2001) The genetic architecture of divergence between threespine stickleback species. Nature 414:901–905.
- Philippi A, Tores F, Carayol J, Rousseau F, Letexier M, Roschmann E, Lindenbaum P, Benajjou A, Fontaine K, Vazart C, Gesnouin P, Brooks P, Hager J (2007) Association of autism with polymorphisms in the paired-like homeodomain transcription factor 1 (*PITX1*) on chromosome 5q31: a candidate gene analysis. BMC Medical Genetics 8:74.

- Purcell KM, Hitch AT, Klerks PL, Leberg PL (2008) Adaptation as a potential response to sea-level rise: a genetic basis for salinity tolerance in populations of a coastal marsh fish. Evolutionary Applications 1:155–160.
- Purcell KM, Klerks PL, Leberg PL (2010) Adaptation to sea level rise: does local adaptation influence the demography of coastal fish populations? Journal of Fish Biology 77:1209–1218.
- Réale D, Reader SM, Sol D, McDougall PT, Dingemanse NJ (2007) Integrating animal temperament within ecology and evolution. Biological Reviews 82:291– 318.
- Reif A, Lesch K-P (2003) Toward a molecular architecture of personality. Behavioural Brain Research 139:1–20.
- Relyea R (2002) Local population differences in phenotypic plasticity: predator induced changes in wood frog tadpoles. Ecological Monographs 72:77–93.
- Reusch TB, Häberli MA, Aeschlimann PB, Milinski M (2001) Female sticklebacks count alleles in a strategy of sexual selection explaining MHC polymorphism. Nature 414:300–302.
- Roff DA (1992) The evolution of life histories: theory and analysis. Chapman & Hall, New York
- Ross J a, Peichel CL (2008) Molecular cytogenetic evidence of rearrangements on the Y chromosome of the threespine stickleback fish. Genetics 179:2173–2182.
- Shapiro MD, Marks ME, Peichel CL, Blackman BK, Nereng KS, Jónsson B, Schluter D, Kingsley DM (2004) Genetic and developmental basis of evolutionary pelvic reduction in threespine sticklebacks. Nature 428:717–723.
- Shapiro MD, Summers BR, Balabhadra S, Aldenhoven JT, Miller AL, Cunningham CB, Bell MA, Kingsley DM (2009) The genetic architecture of skeletal convergence and sex determination in ninespine sticklebacks. Current Biology 19:1140–1145.
- Shaw KA, Scotti ML, Foster SA (2007) Ancestral plasticity and the evolutionary diversification of courtship behaviour in threespine sticklebacks. Animal Behaviour 73:415–422.
- Shikano T, Herczeg G, Merilä J (2011) Molecular sexing and population genetic inference using a sex-linked microsatellite marker in the nine-spined

stickleback (*Pungitius pungitius*). BMC Research Notes 4:119.

- Shikano T, Ramadevi J, Merilä J (2010a) Identification of local- and habitat-dependent selection: scanning functionally important genes in nine-spined sticklebacks (*Pungitius pungitius*). Molecular Biology and Evolution 27:2775–2789.
- Shikano T, Ramadevi J, Shimada Y, Merilä J (2010b) Utility of sequenced genomes for microsatellite marker development in non-model organisms: a case study of functionally important genes in nine-spined sticklebacks (*Pungitius pungitius*). BMC Genomics 11:334.
- Shikano T, Shimada Y, Herczeg G, Merilä J (2010c) History vs. habitat type: explaining the genetic structure of European nine-spined stickleback (*Pungitius pungitius*) populations. Molecular Ecology 19:1147–1161.
- Shimada Y, Shikano T, Kuparinen A, Gonda A, Leinonen T, Merilä J (2011a) Quantitative genetics of body size and timing of maturation in two nine-spined stickleback (*Pungitius pungitius*) populations. PloS One 6:e28859.
- Shimada Y, Shikano T, Merilä J (2011b) A high incidence of selection on physiologically important genes in the three-spined stickleback, *Gasterosteus aculeatus*. Molecular Biology and Evolution 28:181–193.
- Sih A, Bell AM, Johnson JC (2004a) Behavioral syndromes: an ecological and evolutionary overview. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 19:372–378.
- Sih A, Bell AM, Johnson JC, Ziemba RE (2004b) Behavioral syndromes: an intergrative overiew. The Quarterly Review of Biology 79:241–277.
- Slate J (2005) Quantitative trait locus mapping in natural populations: progress, caveats and future directions. Molecular Ecology 14:363–379.
- Slate J, David P, Dodds KG, Veenvliet BA, Glass BC, Broad TE, McEwan JC (2004) Understanding the relationship between the inbreeding coefficient and multilocus heterozygosity: theoretical expectations and empirical data. Heredity 93:255–265.
- Slate J, Gratten J, Beraldi D, Stapley J, Hale M, Pemberton JM (2009) Gene mapping in the wild with SNPs: guidelines and future directions. Genetica 136:97–107.

- Slate J, Pemberton JM (2002) Comparing molecular measures for detecting inbreeding depression. Journal of Evolutionary Biology 15:20–31.
- Sneddon LU (2003) The bold and the shy: individual differences in rainbow trout. Journal of Fish Biology 62:971–975.
- Sokolowski MB (2001) *Drosophila*: genetics meets behaviour. Nature Reviews Genetics 2:879–890.
- Stapley J, Reger J, Feulner PGD, Smadja C, Galindo J, Ekblom R, Bennison C, Ball AD, Beckerman, AP, Slate J (2010) Adaptation genomics: the next generation. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 25:705–712.
- Stearns FW (2010) One hundred years of pleiotropy: a retrospective. Genetics 186:767–773.
- Storey JD, Tibshirani R (2003) Statistical significance for genomewide studies. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 100:9440–9445.
- Szulkin M, Bierne N, David P (2010) Heterozygosityfitness correlations: a time for reappraisal. Evolution 64:1202–1217.
- Szulkin M, David P (2011) Negative heterozygosity – fitness correlations observed with microsatellites located in functional areas of the genome. Molecular Ecology 20:3949–3952.
- Tiira K, Laurila A, Enberg K, Piironen J, Aikio S, Ranta E, Primmer C R (2006) Do dominants have higher heterozygosity? Social status and genetic variation in brown trout, *Salmo trutta*. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 59:657–665.
- Tiira K, Laurila A, Peuhkuri N, Piironen J, Ranta E, Primmer CR (2003) Aggressiveness is associated with genetic diversity in landlocked salmon (*Salmo* salar). Molecular Ecology 12:2399–2407.
- Tolley SG, Torres JJ (2002) Energetics of swimming in juvenile common snook , *Centropomus undecimalis*. Environmental Biology of Fishes 63:427–433.
- Tollrian R (1995) Predator-induced morphological defenses: costs, life history shifts, and maternal effects in *Daphnia pulex*. Ecology 76:1691–1705.
- Tollrian R, Harwell C (1999) The ecology and evolution of inducible defenses. Princeton University Press, Princeton
- Tonteri A, Vasemägi A, Lumme J, Primmer CR (2010) Beyond MHC: signals of elevated selection pressure

on Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) immune-relevant loci. Molecular Ecology 19:1273–82.

- Tseng Y-C, Hwang P-P (2008) Some insights into energy metabolism for osmoregulation in fish. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology, Part C, Toxicology and Pharmacology 148:419–429.
- Werner EE, Anholt BR (1993) ecological consequences of the trade-off between growth and mortality rates mediated by foraging activity. The American Naturalist 142:242–272.
- Vilhunen S, Tiira K, Laurila A, Hirvonen H (2008) The bold and the variable: fish with high heterozygosity act recklessly in the vicinity of predators. Ethology 114:7–15.
- Wilson AD, McLaughlin RL (2007) Behavioural syndromes in brook charr, *Salvelinus fontinalis*: prey-search in the field corresponds with space use in novel laboratory situations. Animal Behaviour 74:689–698.
- Wolcott TG, Wolcott DL (2001) Role of behavior in meeting osmotic challenges. American Zoologist 41:795–806.
- Voorrips RE (1994) Computer note mapchart : software for the graphical presentation of linkage maps and QTLs. The Journal of Heredity 93:77–78.
- Wright D, Butlin RK, Carlborg O (2006a) Epistatic regulation of behavioural and morphological traits in the zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). Behavior Genetics 36:914–922.
- Wright D, Nakamichi R, Krause J, Butlin RK (2006b) QTL analysis of behavioral and morphological differentiation between wild and laboratory zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). Behavior Genetics 36:271–284.
- Välimäki K, Herczeg G (2012) Ontogenetic and evolutionary effects of predation and competition on nine-spined stickleback (*Pungitius pungitius*) body size. Journal of Animal Ecology 81:859–867.
- Välimäki K, Herczeg G, Merilä J (2012) Morphological anti-predator defences in the nine-spined stickleback: constitutive, induced or both? Biological Journal of the Linnean Society 107:854–866.
- Vøllestad LA, Varreng K, Poléo A (2004) Body depth variation in crucian carp *Carassius carassius*: an experimental individual-based study. Ecology of Freshwater Fish 13:197–202.

- Yamamoto T, Ueda H, Higashi S (1998) Correlation among dominance status, metabolic rate and otolith size in masu salmon. Journal of Fish Biology 52:281–290.
- Young TP, Stanton ML, Christian CE (2003) Effects of natural and simulated herbivory on spine lengths of

Acacia drepanolobium in Kenya A. Oikos 101:171–179.

Zhou H, Deeb N, Evock-Clover CM, Ashwell CM, Lamont SJ (2006) Genome-wide linkage analysis to identify chromosomal regions affecting phenotypic traits in the chicken. I. Growth and average daily gain. Poultry Science 85:1700–1711.